I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Elmer Wagner was married to Elizabeth Wagner for 20 years. When 

Elizabeth 1 passed away in 2009, her daughter, Jill Archer, was appointed 

personal representative. Rifts between Elizabeth's children and Elmer have 

marred probate of Elizabeth's Last Will & Testament ("Will"), resulting in 

significant shortages to Elmer in his rightful distributions from the Estate of 

Elizabeth Wagner ("Estate") and from an oil and mineral trust set up by the 

Will ("Tvedt/Murphy Trust"). By way of example, Ms. Archer colluded 

with her brothers to deny Elmer his community property rights to certain 

real property, interfered with nonprobate assets that Elmer held as a joint 

tenant with right of survivorship, and deducted Estate fees out of Elmer's 

share of the Tvedt/Murphy Trust proceeds. Elmer was forced to file a 

TEDRA Petition seeking to remedy these wrongs and remove Ms. Archer 

as the personal representative. 

Shortly before trial on Elmer's TEDRA Petition, and more than 

three years after Ms. Archer had the Will admitted to probate, Ms. Archer 

alleged for the first time that the Will was the product of undue influence 

and that Elmer had engaged in the unlicensed practice of law. The trial 

court allowed testimony and argument on these claims, despite Elmer's 

objection that Ms. Archer's will contest was untimely, finding that it had 

equitable authority to consider undue influence claims at any time. 

1 This Appellant's Brief refers to the Wagners by their first names for clarity and intends 
no disrespect. 
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After trial, the trial court found no evidence that the Will was the 

product of undue influence or that Elmer practiced law by helping his wife 

type the Will. The trial court found, relevantly to this appeal, that Elmer 

was entitled to a community property share of certain real property and 

distributions from the Tvedt/Murphy Trust. The trial court also declined to 

remove Ms. Archer as personal representative or to disinherit her under the 

Will's no contest clause. The trial court also denied Elmer's request for 

attorney fees, awarding each side $10,000 in attorney fees from the Estate. 

Elmer asks this Court to find that Ms. Archer brought a bad faith 

will contest by alleging undue influence more than three years after the 

Will's admission to probate, without any evidence of undue influence, and 

after she had admitted that the Will was valid and not the product of undue 

influence. Because Ms. Archer brought a bad faith will contest, Elmer asks 

this Court to reverse the trial court's order and apply the no contest clause 

to Ms. Archer. Elizabeth intended to prevent the litigious and expensive 

delays caused by frivolous claims like Ms. Archer's will contest, and her 

intent under the no contest clause should be respected. Elmer also asks this 

Court to reverse the order in which the trial court refused to remove Ms. 

Archer as personal representative, adjust the distribution calculations, and 

award him his attorney fees both at trial and on appeal. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Finding of Fact 1.15 is not supported by substantial 

evidence. 
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2. Finding of Fact 1.16 is not supported by substantial 

evidence. 

3. Conclusion of Law 2.4 is not supported by the findings of 

fact or the evidence. 

4. The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to remove 

Ms. Archer as personal representative. 

5. Finding of Fact 1.61 is not supported by substantial 

evidence. 

6. Conclusion of law 2.15 is not supported by the findings of 

fact or the evidence. 

7. The trial court erred in refusing to find that Ms. Archer's will 

contest was brought in bad faith and applying the Will's no contest clause. 

8. The trial court erred in calculating the distributions to Elmer 

and the heirs. 

9. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Elmer's 

request for attorney fees and entering the June 13, 2014, Order on Civil 

Motion regarding fees and August 4, 2014, Order re Disbursement of Funds. 

10. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Elmer's 

motions in limine to exclude evidence relating to Ms. Archer's will contest. 

III. ISSUE STATEMENTS 

1. Under RCW 11.24.010, a will contest must be commenced 

within four months of the date a will is admitted to probate or the will 

becomes final and binding. Should this Court hold that the trial court 

abused its discretion in denying Elmer's motions in limine to exclude 
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evidence relating to Ms. Archer's will contest claims because the claims 

were time-barred? (Assignment of Error No. I 0). 

2. A will's no contest clause will be enforced if a party brings 

a bad faith will contest. Should this Court hold that the trial court erred in 

refusing to enforce the Will's disinheritance clause after Ms. Archer 

initiated a bad faith wi11 contest in her trial brief that was time-barred and 

factually frivolous? (Assignments of Error Nos. 5, 6, and 7). 

3. Under RCW 11.28.250 and RCW 11.68.070, a trial court 

may remove a personal representative who does not reside in Washington 

and who breaches his or her fiduciary duties to the Estate or it heirs. Should 

this Court hold that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to remove 

Ms. Archer as the personal representative due to her residence in Chicago, 

Illinois and her repeated breaches of fiduciary duties? (Assignments of 

Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 4). 

4. Should this Court hold that the trial court erred in ordering 

that the overpayment to the other heirs from the Tvedt/Murphy Trust's 

proceeds be repaid to Elmer out of funds in the registry that already 

belonged to Elmer? (Assignment of Error No. 8). 

5. Should this Court hold that Elmer is entitled to attorney fees 

at the trial level and on appeal pursuant to RAP I 8. I, RCW 11.24.050, and 

RCW 11. 96A. l 50? (Assignment of Error No. 9). 

I II 

Ill 

Ill 
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IV. FACTS 

1. Elmer and Elizabeth Wagner's 20-Year Marriage. 

Elmer and Elizabeth married on July 27, 1989, and the couple 

remained married for over 20 years. 2 During their marriage, the Wagners 

lived in multiple residences, including a home that Elizabeth's parents 

deeded to her prior to the marriage (the "10th Avenue home").3 While 

married, the Wagners maintained joint checking accounts that they used to 

pay various household bills, including the mortgage on the 10th A venue 

home.4 Into the joint checking account, Elmer deposited money from his 

salary, his pension, and income from the sale of his separate real property 

and Elizabeth deposited earnings and money from the proceeds of mineral 

and oil deeds that she had inherited.5 

While married, Elizabeth and Elmer extensively remodeled the 10th 

A venue home, totaling approximately $52,000, not counting the labor 

Elmer contributed. 6 The couple paid for the remodeling costs out of their 

joint checking account.7 In 2003, the Wagners sold a piece ofreal property 

that they jointly owned and placed the proceeds in their joint checking 

account.8 They later purchased Certificates of Deposit ("CDs").9 The 

W agners held their bank accounts, the CDs, and a Scottrade retirement 

2 I Verbatim Report of Proceedings (I VRP) at 62 - 63. 
3 I VRP at 65 - 66. 
4 I VRP at 69, 77, 79 - 80. 
5 I VRP at 69 -- 70, 111·····13. 
6 II VRP at 307. 
7 1 VRP at 69. 
8 I VRP at 123. 
9 1 VRP at 123. 
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account as joint tenants with right of survivorship. 10 The couple also owned 

a pickup truck as joint tenants with right of survivorship. 11 

In approximately 2002, doctors diagnosed Elizabeth with chronic 

obstructive pulmonary disease ("COPD"). 12 As late as 2009, Elizabeth was 

physically active and enjoyed driving herself places and gardening. 13 

Witnesses invariably described Elizabeth as mentally sharp, strong-willed, 

and confident in her beliefs. 14 

2. Elizabeth Drafts her Last Will and Testament. 

In 2009, Elizabeth drafted a revised Will. 15 Elizabeth made 

handwritten changes to her existing will that Elmer typed up at Elizabeth's 

request. 16 After executing the revised Will, Elizabeth sent a copy of the 

Will to her children for their review. 17 Neither Ms. Archer nor her brother, 

Todd Kulesza, thought the Will was objectionable at that time. 18 

In the Will, Elizabeth bequeathed to her husband a life estate in the 

10th Avenue home so long as the house remained Elmer's primary 

residence. 19 Once the life estate ended, the personal representative was 

directed to sell the house and distribute the proceeds equally between Elmer 

and Elizabeth's three children. 20 In addition, Elizabeth stated that the 

10 I VRP at 69, 124, 263 - 64, 288. 
11 III VRP at 329 - 32. 
12 II VRP at 272. 
13 I VRP at 91 - 92. 
14 II VRP at 282 - 83, 304 - 06. 
15 I VRP at 90. 
16 I VRP at 90. 
17 II VRP at 201. 
18 II VRP 192, 20 I, 290, 293. Elizabeth's third child, Kurt Kulesza, did not testify. 
19 Clerk's Papers (CP) at 7. 
20 CPat7. 
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proceeds from the Tvedt/Murphy estate trust were to be held in trust by her 

oldest child; distributed equally between Elmer and her children during 

Elmer's life; and, after Elmer's death, distributed between the children.21 

Elizabeth also bequeathed all of her household effects to Elmer as well as 

the "rest, residue, and remainder of [her] estate. "22 All Estate costs were to 

be paid out of the residue.23 In addition, Elizabeth's Will included a no 

contest clause that disinherited any beneficiary who began or maintained a 

proceeding to challenge or deny any portion of the Will.24 

3. Elizabeth Passes Away and her Daughter is Appointed Personal 
Representative. 

Elizabeth died testate on August 26, 2009.25 At the time of her 

death, Elizabeth was survived by her husband Elmer and Elizabeth's three 

surviving children from a prior marriage, Ms. Archer, Kurt Kulesza, and 

Todd Kulesza.26 In her Will, Elizabeth named Ms. Archer as personal 

representative. 27 

Following Elizabeth's death, Ms. Archer admitted the Will to 

probate and received letters testamentary on September I, 2010.28 In her 

Petition for Probate of Will, Ms. Archer declared that "[a ]t the time of 

executing the said Will, the decedent was of legal age, of sound mind, not 

21 CPat7. 
22 CP at7. 
23 CP at 8. 
24 CP at 8. 
25 CP at l. 
26 l VPR at 64; CP at I. 
27 CP at 3, Article III. 
28 II VRP at 198 - 99; CP at 14 - 21. 
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acting under duress, menace, fraud or undue influence and was competent 

to execute the same."29 The trial court made a similar finding in admitting 

the Will to probate.30 At trial, Ms. Archer testified that at the time she 

admitted the Will to probate, she did not believe that any undue influence 

had occurred. 31 

As personal representative, Ms. Archer, a resident of Chicago, 

Illinois, supposedly delegated much of the accounting and decision-making 

of the Estate to her prior counsel, Suzanne Danielle.32 Ms. Archer has 

resided in Chicago since 1985.33 

4. Ms. Archer's Disposition of Estate Assets. 

In 2012, Elmer vacated the 10th A venue home and the Estate sold 

the residence.34 Allegedly on the advice of Ms. Danielle, Ms. Archer 

concluded that she owned one-third of the 10th A venue home. 35 With this 

belief, Ms. Archer issued one-third of the proceeds from the sale of the 10th 

A venue home to herself, and two-thirds to be split four ways among herself, 

her brothers, and Elmer.36 Ms. Archer surreptitiously distributed the 

one-third she retained equally among herself and her brothers. 37 Ms. Archer 

also attempted to hide in the escrow documents that Elmer needed to sign a 

29 CP at l -2. 
3° CP at 14. 
31 II VRP at 198 - 99. 
32 II VRP at 194. 
33 II VRP at 281. 
34 I VRP at 80. 
35 II VRP at 247. 
36 II VRP at 247 - 48, 252 - 53. 
37 II VRP at 254. 
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provision stating that by accepting the home proceeds, he was waiving his 

rights to the entire Estate. 38 

In addition, Ms. Archer failed to investigate Elmer's claim of a 

community property interest in the 10th Avenue home.39 Ms. Archer saw 

Elmer's claim to a community property interest in the 10th Avenue home 

as "irrelevant. "40 Ms. Archer also declared the CD funds as residue and 

offset the amount against the proceeds of the 10th Avenue home sale.41 To 

pay the Estate's attorney fees and probate fees, Ms. Archer allowed her 

attorney to deduct those costs from Elmer's share of the oil and mineral 

deed proceeds rather than from the residuary.42 Ms. Archer claimed that 

she did not notice some of the costs attributed to Elmer and felt that because 

he challenged her interpretation of the Will, he should pay the Estate's 

attorney fees. 43 As a further attempt to deny Elmer his rights, Ms. Archer 

ignored the joint tenant with right of survivorship designations and claimed 

that the truck, CD, and Scottrade accounts belonged to the residue and 

should be used to pay Estate bills, like the attorney fees she incurred.44 

5. Elmer Files a TEDRA Petition Relating to the Distributions, 
Ms. Archer brings an Untimely Will Contest. 

On April 15, 2013, Elmer filed a TEDRA Petition, alleging the 

following claims: ( 1) quiet title as to the I 0th A venue house, (2) rescission 

38 I VRP at 97. 
39 II VRP at 231 - 32. 
40 II VRP at 232 - 33. 
41 I VRP at 124. 
42 II VRP at 218 - 22. 
43 II VRP at 218 -22. 
44 II VRP at 263. 
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of certain documents executed by Ms. Archer, (3) breach of fiduciary duties, 

(4) unjust enrichment and constructive trust, (5) conversion, (6) an 

accounting, and (7) removal of Ms. Archer as personal representative.45 

Ms. Archer did not allege any counterclaims in her Answer.46 

In her trial brief filed April 8, 2014, Ms. Archer alleged for the first 

time that the Will was the product of Elmer's undue influence and that his 

assistance in helping his wife type the Will constituted the unlawful practice 

of law that justified his disinheritance. 47 At the pretrial motions hearing, 

Ehner objected to the defenses as untimely.48 Elmer specifically objected 

to Ms. Archer's attempts to challenge the validity of a Will that she admitted 

to probate as a valid Will and for failing to timely file a will contest. 49 

In response, the trial court stated that it always had jurisdiction to 

consider claims of undue influence or fraud regarding the drafting and 

execution of a will: 

The whole dispute here is really the - not so much the 
validity of the will but the interpretation of the will. And one 
of those facts I always assume in these kind of cases is 
whether or not there was any undue influence in the writing 
of the will. ... 

And so the issue really becomes whether or not there was 
undue influence when she wrote the will. I don't know that 
question but I do think that's a valid issue to point out 
because that's one of the reasons why we're here obviously. 

45 CP at 31-33. 
46 CP at 113 - 16. 
47 CP at 371 - 85. 
48 I VRP at 22 - 23. 
49 1 VRP at 24. 
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The fact that the will has already been admitted into probate 
without any apparent objections certainly does fly in the face 
of that issue, and I'll consider that; but I am going to let - if 
there is - if there's evidence that you have to indicate that 
there was some kind of an und[ ue] reaching or undue 
influence, you can present it. ... 

So there has to be some type of evidence of undue influence 
or overreaching or something else that would get you to the 
same spot that you tried to get to by citing the RPCs because 
I understand that argument really well.. .. But I do honestly 
think that if there's fraud here that fraud's always an issue 
that the Court has jurisdiction to inquire about .... so 

Elmer also filed motions in limine seeking to bar Ms. Archer's 

mention of any issues relating to her will contest, which the trial court 

denied.51 

In her opening statement,52 Ms. Archer's attorney claimed that 

Elmer "unduly influence[d]" Elizabeth because she "was sick [and] heavily 

dependent on him. "53 Ms. Archer's attorney also argued that the Will 

should be invalidated because Elmer, a non-lawyer, engaged in the 

unauthorized practice of law by assisting his wife in drafting a Will that 

named him as a beneficiary. 54 Ms. Archer acknowledged that even lawyers 

are able to draft Wills for spouses naming themselves as beneficiaries, but 

claimed such an exception only applies "to wills that are fundamentally 

fair."55 

50 I VRP at 25 - 26. 
s1 CP at 336- 69, 387 - 88. 
52 The trial court bifurcated the accounting portion of the proceeding. I VRP at 13. As 
such, the trial addressed only the interpretation of the Will and Ms. Archer's will contest. 
53 I VRP at 56. 
54 1 VRP at 52 ···· 56. 
55 I VRP at 55. 
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Ms. Archer elicited testimony about Elmer's brief attempt at law 

school as well as his lack of a license to practice law. 56 Ms. Archer also 

elicited testimony about Elmer's efforts to help Elizabeth type up the Will 

changes she wanted to make and whether he instructed her to consult with 

an attomey.57 Despite claims that Elizabeth was heavily influenced by 

Elmer in the preparation of her Will, Ms. Archer testified that in 2009, when 

Elizabeth executed her Will, Elizabeth was physically active, mentally 

sharp, and not suffering from dementia. 58 Ms. Archer testified that 

Elizabeth was a confident, strong-willed person.59 Elizabeth's youngest 

son, Todd Kulesza, who operates as Ms. Archer's power of attorney in 

Washington State, admitted that the Will is valid. 60 Ms. Archer devoted the 

bulk of her closing argument to the idea that Elmer exerted undue influence 

or improperly practiced law in assisting his wife in typing her Will. 61 

6. The Trial Court Finds that Elmer committed no Wrongdoing, 
Declines to Remove Ms. Archer as Personal Representative, 
Declines to Apply the Will's No Contest Clause, and Finds that 
Elmer is Entitled to 25 Percent of All Oil and Mineral Proceeds. 

On June 13, 2014, the trial court entered findings of fact and 

conclusions of law.62 The trial court found, relevantly to this appeal, that 

( 1) Ms. Archer did not breach her fiduciary duties because she was 

following the advice of Ms. Danielle and therefore should not be removed 

56 IVRPat131-33. 
57 I VRP at 146-48, 153 -54; II VRP at 188. 
58 II VRP at 282. 
59 II VRP at 283. 
60 n VRP at 293. 
61 II VRP at 367 -409. 
62 CP at 722. 
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as personal representative;63 (2) Ms. Archer's counterclaim for 

unauthorized practice of law was denied;64 (3) Ms. Archer presented the 

Will to probate as a '"valid Will";65 (4) Ms. Archer's counterclaim for undue 

influence was denied;66 (5) it would not apply the will contest clause of the 

Will because the claims and counterclaims were necessary to resolve 

inconsistencies within the Will,67 and (6) all debts and money owed to any 

beneficiary of the Will or the Tvedt/Murphy Trust shall be paid from funds 

held the court registry.68 The trial court also ordered a full and final 

accounting for the Estate. 69 

7. Hearing and Calculation of Distributions Owed to Elmer. 

On December 12, 2014, the trial court held an evidentiary hearing 

on the Estate's accounting to determine the final disbursement amounts.70 

The parties agreed as to an accounting performed by CPA Cary Deaton. 

The trial court issued an oral ruling adopting Mr. Deaton's accounting 

performed and ordered Elmer to be paid out of the court's registry.71 

Additionally, the trial court ordered the parties to pay for the taxes owed on 

the royalty payments in proportion to their share of the proceeds and that 

63 CP at 724-25, 734 (Findings ofFact 1.14 - 1.16, Conclusion of Law 2.4). 
64 CP at 725, 734 (Findings of Fact 1.17 - 1.20, Conclusion of Law 2.5). 
65 CP at 723 (Finding of Fact 1.5). 
66 CP at 725, 734 (Findings of Fact 1.21- 1.24, Conclusion of Law 2.6). 
67 CP at 732, 736 (Findings of Fact 1.60 - 1.61, Conclusion of Law 2.15). 
68 CP at 736 (Conclusion of Law 2.14). 
69 CP at 736 - 37 (Conclusions of Law 2.19 - 2.20). 
7llVRP(Dec. 12,2014)at4. 
71 VRP (Dec. 12, 2014) at 22, 26:22 --23. 
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Mr. Deaton's bill be paid out of the registry before any other payments are 

made. 72 No final order was entered at this time. 

Accounting issues arose after the hearing. Relevant to this appeal, 

a dispute arose as to the order in which to account for the money owed to 

Elmer. Elmer objected to the trial court using funds held in the registry 

from the oil proceeds to satisfy the overpayment to Ms. Archer and her 

brothers without accounting for his entitlement to 25 percent of those 

funds. 73 Ms. Archer and her brothers had received more than $77,000 in 

excess distributions from the Estate and the Tvedt/Murphy Trust. 74 Because 

of an agreement between the children, the Court focused solely on making 

Elmer whole. Elmer's one-quarter share of the overpayment to the children 

totaled by that point $19,789.12.75 At the time of the hearing on entry of a 

final judgment, the registry of the court held $48,475.81 in proceeds from 

the oil and mineral deeds. Elmer asked the trial court to award him one-

quarter of the oil proceeds in the registry, which he was entitled to receive 

as a one-quarter heir, and then award the amounts overpaid to Ms. Archer 

and her brother separately. 76 Elmer asked that the $19, 789 .12 calculated by

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