73629.9

73629.9

No. 73629-9-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

State of Washington

ELMER WAGNER,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent

Vs.

JILL WRIGHT,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant

**CROSS-APPELLANT'S OPENING
BRIEF and RESPONSE**

J. Mills
WSBA# 15842
Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Appellant
705 South 9th, Suite 201
Tacoma, Washington 98405
(253) 226-6362
jmills@jmills.pro

ST
2011 MAR 25 PM 2:41

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Superior Court erred by allowing Elmer Wagner to recover anything under Liz Wagner's will inasmuch as his assistance in crafting the decedent's will constituted the unauthorized practice of law.

The Superior Court erred in finding that the will was not the product of undue influence on the part of Mr. Wagner.

The Superior Court erred in interpreting a Deed in such a way as to deprive Ms. Archer of any interest in the Federal Way real estate.

The Superior Court erred in determining that Mr. Wagner has an uncompensated "community interest" in the decedent's separate property home and in paying him \$52,143 from the estate in compensation.

ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Mr. Wagner participated in crafting the decedent's will. He is not licensed as a lawyer. Did Mr. Wagner engage in the unauthorized practice of law?

While his wife was gravely ill, Mr. Wagner assisted her in changing her will. He alone was with her when the

substance of the will was changed and provisions inserted more favorable to Mr. Wagner than in her prior will. Alone with the testator, Mr. Wagner acted as a scrivener putting all of the sometimes inconsistent language into the will, without referring her to independent counsel. Did Mr. Wagner exert undue influence on his wife?

A deed to real property has a granting clause to “A or B.” Does such a deed convey *all* interest to A, or does the deed convey an interest in common with both A and B, each holding an undivided one-half interest in the property?

After marriage, husband and wife share for a time wife’s separate property home, and for a time rented out the home with rental income going to a community account from which funds were spent to maintain the home. On wife’s death, is husband entitled to a “community interest” in the net value of the home if the fair rental value exceeded the amount of community funds expended on maintenance?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case calls upon the court to review a trial court’s determination that Mr. Wagner was not engaged in the

unauthorized practice of law when he assisted Liz Wagner in the preparation of her will. The trial court concluded at its Conclusion no. 2.5 that Mr. Wagner did not engage in the unauthorized practice of law. Questions of law and conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. *Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie*, 149 Wn.2d 873, 879, 73 P.3d 369 (2003)(citing *Veach v. Culp*, 92 Wn.2d 570, 573, 599 P.2d 526 (1979)).

This case also calls upon the court to review the trial court's determination that there was no "undue influence" exerted in connection with the making of Liz Wagner's will. The trial court's "Finding" no. 1.24 indicates that there was no evidence a trial to show that the Petitioner exerted undue influence. While identified as a "Finding," that's really a conclusion of law arising from the facts. The fact that a court designates its determination as a "finding" does not make it so if it is in reality a conclusion of law. Under Washington practice, a conclusion of law mislabeled as a finding, will be treated as a conclusion. *McClendon v. Callahan*, 46 Wash.2d 733, 284 P.2d 323 (1955); *Hauser v. Arness*, 44 Wash.2d 358, 267 P.2d 691 (1954); 2 Orland, Wash.Prac., § 311, p. 338, n. 38 (1972). Generally, "undue influence" is inferred from surrounding circumstances because in almost all cases

the person most capable of testifying about undue influence is the decedent. See *In re Estate of Knowles*, 135 Wn.App. 351, 357, 135 Wn.App. 351 (2006). At Conclusion No. 2.5, the court essentially concluded that no undue influence was exerted by Mr. Wagner. Whether the court's conclusion about undue influence fairly follows from the facts is a question that should be reviewed de novo, but the facts and circumstances surrounding the making of the will are unchallenged.

This case also calls upon the court to review the trial court's conclusion about the meaning of a deed conveying real property to "ELIZABETH K. KULESZA OR JILL R. KULESZA, mother and daughter." The trial court concluded at its Conclusion 2.8 that "Respondent Archer [fka Jill Kulesza] never held any ownership interest in the Federal Way Property." Finding no. 1.39 is to like effect, indicating "However, the evidence at trial demonstrated that Respondent Archer did not, at any time, have a one-third (1/3) ownership interest in the Property." The facts behind that conclusion appear at Findings 1.25 – 1.28 and is based on the trial court interpreting the "to A or B" language as meaning "to A alone, if A is alive." The significance of the language in the deed is a matter of applying the law to the

unchallenged language of the deed, and the trial court's conclusion about the meaning of the deed should be reviewed de novo.

This case also calls on the court to review an award to Mr. Wagner of \$52,143.00 representing 1/2 of a community or equitable lien on the property, which is the decedent's separate property, acquired before marriage. No challenge is taken to the court's finding about mortgage payments and improvements in the amount of \$104,268 (finding no. 1.34), but the evidence shows that, at time, Mr. Wagner lived in the home rent-free with the decedent and at times, the home was rented out. Under those circumstances, the conclusion that there is a "community or equitable lien" is erroneous, and the existence of such a lien, being a legal question, should be reviewed de novo.

Standard of Review Pertinent to Issues raised by appellant.

At part V of appellant's brief, it is asserted that the trial court decision denying a motion in limine regarding the "will contest" is reviewed for "abuse of discretion," and there's no dispute about that.

At other parts of appellants brief, the standard of review applicable appears to be correctly stated.

IMPORTANT FACTS

The central problem in this case is a will that's full of conflicting statements and undefined terms which, if written by a lawyer, would certainly constitute malpractice.

This case revolves around a will that is, frankly, awful. It is rife with conflicting provisions and undefined terms. It is a case study in why important documents such as wills, particularly when disposing of assets having considerable value, should always be drafted by competent attorneys. This will, if drafted by an attorney, would almost certainly fall below the standard of care and constitute malpractice.

A copy of the full will (trial exhibit 101) is appended as Exhibit 1 to this brief. Page 1 of the will contains this language:

1. Both my husband, Elmer, and I agreed prior to our marriage that assets owned prior to our marriage would be willed to our respective children per each of our individual choice. My premarital assets are as follows:

Testatrix's signature



End Page 1 Of 4

There is, though, no identification of any premarital assets. However, the evidence at trial showed that virtually all of the oil money from North Dakota was an asset owned

prior to marriage. (The exception being set out at finding 1.45.) In addition, the Federal Way home was undeniably owned by Liz Wagner before her marriage to Elmer. See finding No. 2.8.

However, on page 2, paragraph (a) of the will, the home doesn't go to her children, but rather Mr. Wagner is given a life estate, and a 1/4 interest in net proceeds from sale of the home.

Also, on page 2, paragraph (b) the oil money is divided equally between Liz Wagner's children and Mr. Wagner.

None of that can be fairly squared with the page one agreement.

One is tempted to use the rule that where a general statute and a subsequent special statute relate to the same subject matter, the provisions of the special statute will prevail unless it appears that the legislature intended expressly to make the general statute controlling. See *Wark v. National Guard*, 87 Wash.2d 864, 867, 557 P.2d 844 (1976); C. Sands, *Statutes and Statutory Construction*, § 51.05 (4th ed. 1973). A similar rule sometimes also finds its way into contract interpretation.

The problem is that the language on page 1 is as specific as that on page 2. Page 1 specifically indicates that all assets owned prior to marriage would go to each spouse's children to the exclusion of all others. Page 2 just doesn't do that. So, at best, one is left trying to reconcile totally inconsistent

provisions, and the fair conclusion is that the will is just not well-written.

It is precisely to prevent people ending up with such abysmally bad wills that we have laws limiting the practice of writing wills to licensed lawyers. While Mr. Wagner spent a little time at law school, he is not a licensed lawyer. RP Vol. 1, page 134 – 136.

The facts and circumstances surrounding the making of Liz Wagner's will have all the earmarks of undue influence.

The trial court found that Liz was not mentally impaired, was relatively healthy, appeared to be in complete control, and that the Decedent wrote her Will approximately ten to eleven months before her death. See Finding 1.22. That finding is not challenged.

Ms. Archer's testimony was that Liz Wagner was "sharp as a tack," "strong willed," and "knew her mind" in 2009 when she wrote her will. See Finding 1.23. That too is not controverted.

Importantly, all these facts essentially go to the issue of *competence*. No one thinks Liz was *incompetent* to make a will.

There are not findings pertinent to undue influence, which is different from competence, and centers instead in part on the existence of a close, confidential or fiduciary

relationship between the testator and beneficiary. The evidence on that is that there was little, if any conflict between the Wagners and they had a long marriage. RP Vol. 2, pages 327-28.

Undue influence also implicates active participation by the beneficiary in procuring or preparing the will. That happened here. See e.g. Finding no. 1.18 and 1.19.

Mr. Wagner testified, and the court found, that he acted as a “scrivener for the Decedent.” See Finding No. 1.18 and 1.19. But then, there really was no one around when the will was being prepared save Mr. Wagner and Liz. RP 149 – 157. Accordingly, the only person really in a position to discuss what sort of advice and counsel was being given is Liz (who is dead) and Mr. Wagner who is biased and obviously self-interested in that testimony. What we know for sure is that Mr. Wagner, who stood to inherit a huge bonanza, did not send Liz Wagner off to a real lawyer to get true independent counsel. Had that happened, none of these issues would exist, and we’d probably have a will not full of contradictions.

It’s true that Liz Wagner did give the will to her daughter, Ms. Archer, before signing. But, it would be a pretty cold, and callous child who would point out problems, thus risking a rift between Liz and her husband during her dying months or days. The point here is, that Mr. Wagner

being a very substantial beneficiary was the person that *should* have sent Liz to independent counsel.

In all events, what we know is that Mr. Wagner was an active participant in preparing the will. He was not, like all the other children who were beneficiaries, totally unconnected with the preparation of the will.

Undue influence also is implicated when the beneficiary receives an “unnaturally large” part of the estate.

What’s important in that regard is that page 1 of the will – mirrored in Mr. Wagner’s own will (which is Trial Exhibit 102 and Exhibit 3 to this brief) – says that all assets owned before the marriage would go to the spouses’ respective children alone.

That is, at least as to all the oil money, totally consistent with Liz Wagner’s earlier will (Trial Exhibit 101, a copy is appended as Exhibit 2). So, basically, what we know is that at a time when Liz was ill (although competent), Mr. Wagner was participating in the preparation of a will that suddenly gave him 1/4 of all the oil money, something Liz owned before marriage. That’s an unnaturally large benefit given the overall plan expressed on page 1 of the will.

The trial court did not make findings on those factors, but the evidence is very compelling and the inference – really the legal conclusion to be drawn – from the facts is that Mr. Wagner *was* exerting “undue influence,” and if he wanted to be the beneficiary of such a substantial change in Liz

Wagner’s will, he should have made the changes, not in the privacy of their home, but should have referred her to competent legal counsel.

The Federal Way home is transferred by peculiar deed, but one sufficient to give Jill Archer some interest in the property.

Part of this case involves the question of whether Jill Archer (fka “Jill Wright”) is entitled to a separate share of the federal way home. The facts pertinent are that the home was, at one time, deeded to “Elizabeth K. Kulesza or Jill Wright.” (Elizabeth is the decedent.)

The trial court interpreted that to mean a deed to Liz if she were alive, or Jill otherwise. See Finding Nos. 1.25 to 1.28. That, of course, is really a legal conclusion, being an interpretation of the deed’s language.

The court indicated that “The Decedent was alive and able to take at the time the quit claim deeds [sic] were executed and recorded.” See Finding No. 1.28. No one challenges the finding that Liz was alive at the time of the deed, and in fact, lived for a long time after that deed was issued.

Not explained at all by the court is – since it would have been obvious to the grantor that Liz was alive – why the Grantor would have put Jill’s name on the deed at all if that were the intent. In all events, no one challenges the facts,

but the legal conclusion that Jill has zero interest in the home is an erroneous legal conclusion.

Mr. Wagner lived in the Federal Way home rent-free for much of the time he was married, and at other times the home was rented out with rental money coming to the marital community; accordingly, there isn't a basis for any an equitable lien.

The court awarded \$52,143 to Mr. Wagner, being one-half of a mortgage paid down during the course of the marriage and various improvements made to the home during the course of the marriage. See Finding no. 1.34. No one challenges the fact that a mortgage was paid off and improvements made to the home.

However, what's also true is that Mr. Wagner and his wife, the decedent lived at the home during the course of their marriage and made mortgage payment while living at the home. See Finding No. 1.30 and 1.31. The mortgage payments merely substituted for rent they would have paid if living elsewhere.

For most of the time when not living at the home, the home was rented out, and the Wagners received the rental income. RP 140, line 8 to RP 144. So, while it's true that the marital community paid off the mortgage, that happened basically with the rental income received.

Under these circumstances, there's nothing equitable about awarding to the community some additional "equitable lien."

APPLICABLE LAW AND ARGUMENT

Mr. Wagner was engaged in the unauthorized practice of law and accordingly should be precluded from taking any award under the will.

Mr. Wagner insisted at trial, and the court found, that he had acted as a mere scrivener. However, the question of whether that activity alone, in the context of completing a will, constitutes the unauthorized practice of law is an open question in Washington.

The issue was alluded to in *Perkins v. CTX Mortg. Co.*, 969 P.2d 93, 137 Wn.2d 93 (Wash. 1999), a case that doesn't involved making wills, but where it was held that a mortgage lender did not engage in the unauthorized practice of law by charging a fee for the production and completion of residential home loan documents.

In the *Perkins* case:

[A]ttorneys selected the loan products, created the documents necessary for each loan product, and supervised the programming of CTX's central computer, which generates form templates in the branch offices. At the branch offices, lay employees entered customer information such as Social Security numbers, employer information, and bank account numbers in response to computer prompts depending on the type of loan the Perkinses had selected. Lay employees also entered the

loan amount, interest rate, down payment, 137 Wn.2d 97 and other factual data. Attorneys prepared the other documents requiring the exercise of legal judgment. For example, the Perkinses' attorneys prepared the purchase and sale agreement, the earnest money agreement, the HUD-1, the excise tax affidavit, the warranty deed, and the escrow instructions.

See *Perkins*, 137 Wn.2d at 96.

The *Perkins* decision is grounded on its determination that “CTX argues that its activities are authorized because lay employees do not exercise any legal discretion during their participation in the document preparation process. Thus, there is no risk of public harm from incompetent lawyering.”

Perkins was criticized in *Dressel v. Ameribank*, 635 N.W.2d 328 (Mich.Ap. 2001). And certainly the present case demonstrates the accuracy of Justice Madsen’s dissenting opinion in *Perkins*, where she said:

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